1988

John P. Sampson v. Milton R. Goff, individually and  
as trustee of Milton R. Goff Trust, an  
unincorporated association : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the lower court err in concluding that John Sampson tortiously interfered with Defendants' business relations?
2. Did the lower court err in assessing damages against John Sampson?

## PERTINENT STATUTES AND RULES

This appeal does not focus upon the specific interpretation of any statutes. However, the decision of the lower court was based in part upon interpretation of the Utah Limited Partnership Act Title 48, Chapter 2, Sections 1-27.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The original Complaint in this case was filed on February 11, 1981 under the title of "Robert J. Osborn, Plaintiff, vs. Paul H. Richins, Richtron, Inc., Richtron Financial Corporation." The relief sought was for a judgment giving full faith and credit to a judgment entered on May 13, 1980 by a circuit court in Oregon. Subsequently, a Motion to Amend the Complaint was granted and plaintiff Robert J. Osborn was replaced with John P. Sampson and the other listed plaintiffs in this present lawsuit. Defendants filed a Counterclaim to this Complaint alleging various defenses to the Oregon judgment and seeking six affirmative claims for relief on the Counterclaim.

In February of 1983 Judge Douglas Cornaby of the Second Judicial District Court in and for Davis County entered an order requiring defendant Paul Richins to obtain a licensed attorney to represent him rather than allowing him to appear pro se. An interlocutory appeal was taken to this Court and the Court



accepted jurisdiction as to whether the lower court's order of representation was proper. In September of 1983 this Court in Case No. 19229 granted Appellants' Motion for Summary Disposition and found that the lower court's order was overly broad and violated Appellants' constitutional right to represent himself.

Additional legal proceedings occurred in the lower court after remand. Those that are relevant to this appeal will be specifically stated in the Statement of Facts. A federal lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, Northern Division, Civil No. NC84-013A on August 28, 1984 by defendant Richins alleging securities and racketeering violations.

In October 1985 Judge Cornaby suggested to defense counsel that he may be prejudiced against the defendants and suggested they request a new judge to hear the matter. (R. 1685-87). On October 1, 1985 an order was entered by Judge Cornaby transferring the case to Judge David Roth. (Tr. 1699). Subsequently Chief Justice Gordon Hall acting through the office of the State Court Administrator appointed retired Judge Bryant Croft to further hear and try the case. The parties stipulated that the case would be tried in Salt Lake County but would remain under the jurisdiction of the Second Judicial District. (Tr. 1752-53).

The case came on for trial before the judge without a jury on January 27, 1986. The trial proceeded through the weeks of January 27, 1986 and concluded on February 11, 1986. The trial consisted of eleven days of oral testimony together with 398

exhibits.

In July of 1986 Judge Croft presented the parties with a "Memorandum and Summation of Evidence" consisting of 177 pages and proposed "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Verdict" consisting of 234 pages.

Objections were filed by both parties as to these Findings and a hearing was held on September 11, 1986. Subsequently, a judgment was entered by the lower court finding in favor of plaintiff Milton Goff and other plaintiffs listed as trustors against the defendants for \$19,057 (R. 2283) as to Plaintiffs' initial complaint, and finding against plaintiff John Sampson on the counterclaim in various amounts totaling approximately \$290,000. (R. 2286-88). A copy of these judgments is attached To Appendix I contained following the Argument portion of this Brief. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal on November 6, 1986. (R. 2339-40). Defendants filed a second Notice of Appeal on November 10, 1986. (R. 2346-47).

Subsequently, a number of motions were filed in this Court by both parties as to the composition of the record and attempts to dismiss Sampson's appeal. Ultimately, the court denied all of Defendants' efforts to dismiss the appeal of Sampson but also limited the scope of the record to be included to that which was originally designated by Sampson on June 9, 1987.

During this same period of time a Complaint was filed by defendant Paul Richins against Sampson with the Utah State Bar. Thirteen separate claims were made by Richins as to Sampson's conduct. On June 15, 1987 the screening panel of the Utah State

Bar issued a private reprimand to plaintiff John Sampson finding that a more severe penalty was unwarranted since in the committee's opinion there was no dishonesty, deceit or bad motive in Mr. Sampson's conduct, and that he was at all times acting in the interest of his limited partner clients. (A copy of the private reprimand is attached herein to the Addendum).

On July 15, 1987 all further complaints filed against Sampson to the Bar Commission were dismissed by Bar counsel. In July of 1987 the parties stipulated to a settlement of the federal court case.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### INTRODUCTION

As previously noted the trial of this matter consumed eleven days of oral testimony. Judge Croft after taking the matter under advisement for nearly five months entered extensive factual findings. The court prepared what it called a "Memorandum and Summation of Evidence". This document contains 177 pages and essentially is a chronological listing of all events that were documented in this litigation.

The second document filed by the Court is entitled "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Verdicts." This document contains 234 pages and is contained in a separate volume to this Brief designated Appendix II. The format of this document consists of 156 pages of findings, 49 pages of conclusions of law, and 27 pages of verdicts. For purposes of this Brief reference will be made separately to the findings (hereinafter referred to as "Findings"); to the conclusions of law

(hereinafter referred to as "Conclusions"); and to the verdicts on both the plaintiffs' and defendants' claims (hereinafter referred to as "Verdicts"). The page of the court's opinion rather than the assigned record page will be referred to for convenience.

Plaintiffs' counsel has thoroughly reviewed the transcript in this case together with the exhibits that were filed by both parties. With the exception of evidence relating to the amount of damages, Plaintiffs believe that the lower court did an admirable job in summarizing the probative facts. The Findings, therefore, are essentially not contested by Plaintiffs in that they accurately reflect the events which transpired throughout these business dealings. It would therefore be needless repetition to refer to the underlying record rather than to the opinion of the lower court in areas where no dispute of the record has occurred.

As to the issue of damages, however, Plaintiffs believe that there is neither evidentiary support nor sufficient findings in the opinion submitted by the lower court to justify the imposition against Plaintiffs. This again, however, is an omission which again can have no citation to the record.

Thus, after reviewing this case in detail it has now become apparent that Plaintiffs' effort to supplement the transcript record in this case was essentially a needless gesture. First, a review of the original designation by Plaintiff as compared with the actual transcriptions reveals that nearly all of the transcript is included in that original designation. Second, and

more important, however, the Findings of the lower court as to probative facts are, as argued by Defendants' counsel during oral argument, sufficient to base both the appeal and the cross-appeal upon and therefore the internal decision of the court will be the focus of this appeal rather than the underlying record.

While Plaintiffs do not disagree with the overwhelming majority of probative facts found by the lower court, Plaintiffs do disagree with the findings relating to ultimate conclusionary facts and conclusions of law. Thus, for example, while not disagreeing that Sampson made certain statements concerning his interpretation of the partnership agreement Plaintiffs disagree that such statements constituted improper means of economic interference thereby justifying liability.

It is obviously impossible to duplicate in this Statement of Facts all of the events which Judge Croft methodically listed in his prepared documents. Fortunately, only some of these facts are relevant to the appeal and the cross-appeal now before this Court. Therefore, Plaintiffs will chronologically list the events which occurred in this litigation as specifically found by the lower court. At the same time, in order to better understand the legal conclusions of the lower court, Sampson will cite to the Conclusions and other analytical comments made by the lower court as to those facts. It is hoped that this process will simplify the examination of this voluminous record for both the appeal and cross-appeal.

#### THE PARTIES

Plaintiff and appellant John P. Sampson is an attorney at

law licensed to practice in the State of Utah and residing in Ogden, Utah. Plaintiff Milton R. Goff is an individual residing in Weber County, was a limited partner of one of the entities involved in this lawsuit, and was trustee for a group of individuals listed as plaintiffs in the court below. For purposes of this appeal, Goff and the other plainiffs will only be referred to when necessary to understand their role in the series of events. Claims levied by them and against them will not be addressed.

The Respondents Richtron, Inc., Richtron General, Richtron Financial Corporation and Frontier Investments are all Utah corporations organized by respondent Paul H. Richins and his wife Sherry. Richins was president of each corporation and Sherry was secretary-treasurer during the years from October 15, 1973 to March 1, 1980.

Richins established at least twenty-six limited partnerships in which either Richtron, Inc. or Richtron General was made the sole general partner in such limited partnerships. Through Richins' efforts approximately 130 parties invested in and became limited partners in one or more of such partnerships. Limited partnership agreements were executed between a general partner, for which Paul Richins signed as president of the general partner, and certain named individual partners, the number of which varied from three to twenty-two in the respective limited partnerships.

Each limited partnership was a farm property, each of which was purchased under a purchase agreement by either Richtron, Inc.

or Richtron Financial Corporation who appeared as buyers and the original owners from whom each property was purchased who appeared as sellers. The Richtron buyer of each property would then sell the property to a particular limited partnership under a sales agreement in which such limited partnership appeared as buyer.

In each such resale contract there was a substantial markup in the purchase price to be paid by the limited partnership for the farm property, together with an increase in the interest rate to be paid on the purchase price. Such resale agreements were all signed by Paul Richins for both the buyer and the seller, with him signing as president of the general partner of the limited partnership making the purchase and as president of the Richtron corporation making the resale to the limited partnership.

#### THE CLAIMS

This lawsuit began on February 11, 1981 under the title of "Robert J. Osborn, Plaintiff, vs. Paul H. Richins, Richtron, Inc., and Richtron Financial Corporation." The relief sought was for a judgment giving full faith and credit to a judgment entered on May 13, 1980 in a court of Oregon. For purposes of this appeal it is unnecessary to detail further procedural facts relating to plaintiffs' initial claim since neither party is contesting the decision rendered in favor of Goff and his trustors.

The Amended Counterclaim filed by Defendants initially alleged six causes of action against defendant Sampson. The

first claim alleged that from about June 11, 1980 until October 7, 1981 Sampson acted as legal counsel for defendants, who in the first claim are identified as Richins, Richtron, Inc., Richtron General and RFC. The Counterclaim alleged that Sampson undertook to represent partners and partnerships in matters adverse to these defendants; endeavored to obtain interests in various enumerated judgments or debts owed by defendants for the purpose of using them to defendants' detriment; utilized confidential information received while representing defendants to their detriment; and alleged that such conduct constituted conflicts of interest, fraudulent attempts to injure defendants, breach of fiduciary duty and trust upon which the attorney-client relationship is based. (Findings, pp. 29-30).

The second claim alleges Sampson, as counsel for defendants, failed to exercise reasonable care or skill ordinarily possessed and exercised by members of the legal profession; that he acted far beyond the scope of his express and implied delegated duties and utilized confidential information acquired while representing defendants. (Findings, pp. 30-31).

The third claim, based upon allegations of slander and defamatory statements, was abandoned by defendants during the trial. The fourth claim for relief alleged that Sampson intentionally and maliciously interfered with Richins' right to earn a livelihood as a syndicator of limited partnership interests and interfered with the other corporate defendants' abilities to make existing contractual relations and economic expectancies. (Findings, pp. 31-32).



The fifth claim for relief alleged that between June 14, 1980 and January 15, 1981 Richtron, Inc. and Richtron General withdrew as general partners of twenty-four named limited partnerships which obligated the general partner of each to wind up and terminate the affairs of the limited partnerships. It further alleged that Sampson who was purportedly acting as successor general partner deliberately interfered with the rights of the general partners to wind up the affairs and liquidate the limited partnerships. An accounting was requested. (Findings, pp. 32-33).

In the sixth claim for relief defendants assert that by reasons of all of the conduct alleged in the other claims that they have suffered irreparable injury for which there is no adequate legal remedy and thus seek injunctive relief. Defendants requested both compensatory as well as punitive damages under the various claims asserted. (Findings, p. 33).

#### CHRONOLOGY OF EVENTS

1. Finding: Between October 15, 1973 and March 1, 1980 Richins established at least 25 limited partnerships for the purpose of operating farms throughout the intermountain area. (Findings, p. 28). Each limited partnership had its own separate agreement signed by Richins as president of either Richtron, Inc. or Richtron General as general partner and by each investor in the particular limited partnership. The content of each agreement was identical, except as to dates, description of the property, the names of the investors and the amounts of the initial capital.

2. Finding: As of May, 1980, the evidence suggests a bleak outlook for the future in the overall operation of the limited partnerships by Richins. This was caused by (1) the failure of many limited partners to pay their assessed capital contribution which they had agreed to in their respective partnership agreements and (2) the failure of Richins as president of the general partners of each partnership to fulfill the duties and responsibilities he had to the limited partners under the partnership agreements. (Findings, pp. 54-57).

The court listed numerous problems with the farm properties in the latter part of 1979 and the early part of 1980. (Findings, pp. 60-64). In summary, the court stated that by May of 1980 there was dissatisfaction of the partnership affairs together with a lack of meaningful information from the general partner, the existence of judgments, troubles and tax problems, a state security commission investigation, a revocation of RFC's certificate of authority in Oregon, the failure of many limited partners to pay their assessments and Richins' failure to do anything about it. (Findings, p. 72).

Conclusion: By May of 1980 Richins had so mismanaged partnership affairs that it did not have sufficient funds to pay installments owed to RFC, so RFC could not pay its installment obligation to the contract sellers. Substantial judgment were obtained for failure to pay partnership obligations. Partners were angry because of Richins' failure to follow the partnership agreement upon assessment and failure to pay; to give an audited annual report to each, to have the properties appraised by a qualified appraiser and to give the partners a report of the holdings and to advise them regarding advances and obligations with respect thereto. (Verdict, p. 229).

3. Finding: On or about May 21, 1980 Richins had his first contact with Sampson concerning this action. Sampson called Richins, stating he was calling on behalf of Milton Goff and had some questions about the Catlow Valley Property--one of the limited partnerships. Richins told Sampson he was going to call a meeting of the Catlow Valley limited partners to tell them about the judgments that had been entered against the partnership and other problems. (Findings, p. 7).

4. Finding: On May 29, 1980 a meeting of the limited partners of the seven Catlow Valley farm partnerships was attended by about thirty limited partners. Its purpose was to discuss the critical financial condition of those partnerships and the need to act as to a sheriff's sale set for the following month. Richins advised those present that \$140,000 had to be raised immediately to stop the sale and that an additional \$30,000 to \$50,000 was needed to continue drilling water wells. The total amount of money then needed to pay the obligations owed was computed at \$240,000. (Findings, p. 63).

5. Finding: Sampson representing limited partners Goff and Kohler suggested that RFC file a Chapter 11 bankruptcy as an alternative. He also stated that he did not think RFC could keep the markup equity because it was a breach of fiduciary responsibility for a general partner to buy property at one price and to sell it to a partnership at a profit. This was a theme which Sampson repeatedly expressed in the months and years ahead. Richins disagreed with Sampson's conclusion but did agree to file a Chapter 11 bankruptcy on behalf of RFC. (Findings, pp. 36-37).

Conclusion: The court states that it does not believe that the markup in the contract price for which RFC or Richtron, Inc. sold farm property to a partnership by contract was a breach of fiduciary duty which rendered such contract or the markup illegal or void. The statement by Sampson was therefore erroneous. (Conclusion, p. 189).

6. Finding: It was agreed at this meeting that \$17,000 would be raised by the limited partners for the purpose of attorneys' fees and other expenses. When the limited partners raised the question as to who would have custody of the funds Richins suggested that Ken Hansen be appointed for that purpose. (Findings, pp. 64-5).

7. Finding: On May 30, 1980 a meeting of the Snowville limited partnership was held at which time they employed Sampson as legal counsel for the partnership and requested Sampson to take necessary steps to relieve Richtron as general partner and to liquidate in an orderly manner. They decided they would not pay contributions requested by Richins until after an audit was completed but would make contributions to meet the July 1st payment on the property if advised to do so by Sampson. It was also agreed to request the Springfield and Morland limited partnerships to do likewise. (Findings, p. 64).

8. Finding: On June 2 and June 5, Richins as the general partner in the partnerships executed quit claim deeds by which all of the limited partnerships conveyed to RFC the real property previously acquired by them. These deeds were executed without advising any investor or partnerships. The apparent basis for such deeds was the failure of the partnerships to keep current the payments due RFC on the real estate contracts by which the partnerships had purchased their farm lands from RFC.

Conclusion: The undisclosed execution by Richins as president of the general partner of the quit claim deeds on or about June 2 and 5, 1980 which deeds purported to convey all partnership properties to RFC was contrary to law and void. This effort would have essentially deprived the partnerships of their only assets making it impossible for them to carry on ordinary business. This action violated §48-2-9(2) of the Utah Code Annotated. It is difficult to conceive of any circumstance falling more closely into the statutory provision requiring notice and written consent of limited partners than the secretive conveyance of the partnership farms to a third party. (Conclusion, pp. 168-69).

9. Finding: On June 5, 1980 Richins prepared and signed as president of Richtron, Inc., the general partner, eighteen promissory notes which obligated the limited partnerships of the note issued to pay Richtron, Inc., Richtron General, or RFC, or their respective successors or assigns, the greater amount of the principal sum named therein or the total of the aggregate advances made to the partnership by the holder as

defined in the limited partnership agreement. (Findings, pp. 65-66).

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