1988

John P. Sampson v. Milton R. Goff, individually and as trustee of Milton R. Goff Trust, an unincorporated association : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Parties' legal counsel that unless counsel immediately refrained from further representation of the Richins Parties, Sampson would seek "sanctions" and "other relief" against counsel supra p.4; (xix) Sampson's filing of a patently meritless lawsuit seeking to have himself appointed as receiver for the Limited Partnerships, which action was dismissed by reason of Sampson's failure to substitute his corporations as successor general partner of the Limited Partnerships in the manner required by the Utah Uniform Limited Partnership Act (R. 2124-25); (xx) Sampson's pirating away of the Richtron Companies' employees (R. 2141); (xxi) Sampson's gloating statement to the limited partners of the Limited Partnerships that he had purposely stonewalled the Richins Parties in their efforts to obtain an accounting of the manner in which he had received and disbursed Limited Partnership funds supra p.21; and (xxii) Sampson's continued receipt and disbursement of Limited Partnership funds even after the federal district court voided the tax sale from which Sampson traced his claim of title to the Richtron Companies' assets Id.

In the face of those findings, Sampson's assertion that the means he used to take control of the Limited Partnerships were not "predatory" and involved only "errors in judgment or technical legal violations" (Brief, p. 36), is interesting indeed. It is simply impossible to conceive

of a pattern of conduct, extending as it does over a period of more than four years, that constitutes a more disturbing blend of fraudulent, deceptive and otherwise illegal conduct.¹⁰

Therefore, the district court's conclusion that Sampson's seizure and control of the Limited Partnerships was effectuated through a series of improper means is abundantly supported by the meticulous and extensive factual findings. As such, there is no basis for invalidating either the judgment or the findings on which the judgment is based.

¹⁰ Contrary to Sampson's suggestion that the district court failed to apply a "good faith" standard in determining his conduct, there are at least three ready answers. First, the cumulative effect of Sampson's deployment of multiple means of contract interference makes any finding of "good faith" both factually and legally impossible. Second, the district court did in fact make several references to Sampson's supposed absence of malice in arriving at its conclusion that Sampson used a series of improper means to take control of the Limited Partnerships. Finally, Sampson's reliance on a standard of "good faith" appears to be nothing more than an assertion that he was legally privileged to carry out the conduct that he did. His effort to cast his argument in those terms is understandable in light of his failure to plead privilege as an affirmative defense in his reply to the Richins Parties' second amended counterclaim. (R. 1656-63). That failure, of course, constitutes a waiver of that affirmative defense and cannot now be raised for the first time on appeal. Utah R. Civ. P., 12(h); Manger v. Davis, 619 P.2d 687 (Utah 1980).

ARGUMENT IV

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT
SAMPSON'S TAKEOVER OF THE LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS
WAS ACTUATED BY AN IMPROPER PURPOSE

A. The Incomplete Record In This Appeal Precludes Sampson From Sustaining His Burden Of Demonstrating That The District Court's Factual Findings On This Issue Were Clearly Erroneous.

Sampson argues in his brief that the district court erred in concluding that Sampson's takeover of the Limited Partnerships was actuated by an improper purpose because there are "...no factual findings nor evidence to justify this conclusion." (Brief, p. 34). The determination of whether there is sufficient "evidence" supporting the district court's decision cannot be made on the basis of the partial record available to the court. See, Arguments I and II, supra. Absent the complete record, there is no possible way to determine whether the factual findings on this issue are "clearly erroneous" within the meaning of Rule 52(a) and the cases interpreting it.

B. The Existing Record Abundantly Supports The District Court's Conclusion That Sampson's Seizure Of The Limited Partnerships Was Actuated By An Improper Purpose.

In considering and analyzing the massive evidence establishing Sampson's use of improper means in intruding in

the affairs of the Limited Partnerships, See, pp. 36-39, supra, the district court had before it substantial evidence justifying the eminently reasonable inference that:

...the evidence does make clear that Sampson's main goal and effort soon became one of getting rid of Richins from all partnerships and obtaining control thereof for himself and his clients whom he never fully specifically identified. I think the evidence shows, and so find, that his self-declared benevolent motive soon changed to one of greed and a vendetta to oust Richins and take complete control.

(R. 2159).

Obviously, the issue of whether an improper purpose has, in any given case, been established requires that inferences be drawn from the underlying conduct. Like most cases, the record in this case does not contain a frank admission by the tortfeasor that he had an improper purpose in mind while engaging in the conduct deemed to be actionable. That purpose can only be deduced from the determined facts. That is precisely what the district court did. Its conclusion on this issue must be sustained.

ARGUMENT V

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT
SAMPSON'S CONDUCT PROXIMATELY CAUSED
INJURY TO THE RICHINS PARTIES

A. Sampson's Conduct Was A Substantial Factor In Causing Injury To The Richins Parties.

In his brief, Sampson asserts that even assuming his conduct was carried out through improper means or by an

improper purpose, he is nevertheless insulated from liability because he was not the proximate cause of injury to the Richins Parties. Specifically, he suggests that the district court should have applied a "but for" test of causation. (Brief, p. 42). That assertion, however, badly misconceives the legal standard of proximate cause applicable to this case.

The district court expressly concluded that it was a combination of the Richins Parties' supposed negligence (mismanagement) and Sampson's tortious conduct that "brought this case to court for a decision as to whether any damages are recoverable..." (R. 2275). Thus, the district court concluded that the conduct of the Richins Parties and Sampson were concurrent causes of the complained-of injuries -- that is, that either of the causes, operating alone, would have been sufficient to result in the Richtron Companies' inability to enjoy the benefits of the Limited Partnership agreements. As such, Sampson's conduct is deemed to be the legal cause of that injury "...if it was a material element and a substantial factor in bringing it about." W. P. Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts §41 at 240 (4th Ed. 1971). Thus, "if a defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing the plaintiff's injury, it follows that he will not be absolved from liability merely

because other causes have contributed to the result, since such causes, innumerable, are always present." Id.

Clearly, the nature and extent of Sampson's efforts to displace the Richtron Companies and insert himself as their successor easily rise to the level of being a "material element and a substantial factor" within the meaning of applicable case law. However badly managed Sampson would like to believe the Limited Partnerships were, he cannot validly contend that his conduct was anything other than a substantial factor in bringing about injury to the Richtron Companies. Standing alone, each of the improper means of tortious interference found by the district court constitute a material element and substantial factor in the injury inflicted on the Richtron Companies. When aggregated, they constitute an overwhelming body of evidence that those injuries were not proximately caused by anything other than Sampson's conduct.

B. Even Application Of The "But For" Test Supports The Conclusion That Sampson's Tortious Conduct Was The Proximate Cause of Injury To The Richtron Companies.

In the event it is determined that the district court applied a "but for" test of proximate cause, it is clear that its factual findings adequately support the conclusion that Sampson's conduct was the proximate cause of the Richtron Companies' injuries.

At the outset, it is important to recognize that the factual findings set forth by Sampson in his brief represent only one side of the proximate cause equation, and an incomplete one at that. The only two relevant factual findings relied upon by Sampson to support his conclusion that he is not the factual and proximate cause of the Richins Parties' injuries is (i) the fact that the Limited Partnerships' agreements were terminable at will, and (ii) the "fact" that the Limited Partnerships were suffering from "financial instability." (Brief, p. 40). However, what Sampson fails to recognize is that the terminability of a contract is a factor that has relevance only with respect to the issue of damages. As the Restatement (Second) of Torts, §766(g) makes clear:

A similar situation [to voidable contracts] exists with a contract that, by its terms or otherwise, permits the third person to terminate the agreement at will. Until he has so terminated it, the contract is valid and subsisting, and the defendant may not properly interfere with it. The fact that the contract is terminable at will, however, is to be taken into account in determining the damages the plaintiff has suffered by reason of its breach.

Thus, the mere fact that the contract is terminable at will has no relevance to the issue of whether, and to what extent, the promisee's right to performance has been impaired by the third party's tortious interference.

Next, even charitably assuming for purposes of argument that the Limited Partnerships were in fact suffering from "financial instability" on the date Sampson first appeared on the scene, it is essential that that "fact" be placed in proper context. For example, the Limited Partnerships had been solvent, viable entities for over seven years by the time Sampson first began tampering with their affairs. (R. 2068, 2128-29, 2228). In addition, there is no evidence that any of the contracts under which the Richtron Companies were purchasing the farm properties were ever foreclosed upon. Indeed, the inference is irresistible that any default in the performance of those obligations was timely cured because the court properly found that while they were under the supervision of the Richtron Companies, none of the farm properties were ever foreclosed upon. Id. All of the properties were, however, foreclosed upon or otherwise lost under Sampson's reign. Id.

Moreover, under the Limited Partnership agreements, the limited partners were contractually obligated to pay their pro rata portion of all expenses incurred by the Limited Partnerships. (Exhibit 115). Therefore, the continued ability of the Limited Partnerships to operate and ultimately persevere depended in the final analysis upon the willingness of the limited partners to pay their pro rata portion of those expenses. Obviously, an event like

Sampson's unlawful solicitation and seizure of limited partner funds had the effect of choking off all cash flow available to the Limited Partnerships. When coupled with his repeated statements that the Richtron Companies were not entitled to be repaid their advances and that the limited partners were not obligated to honor their agreement to pay the Richtron Companies any "mark-up," it is a reasonable conclusion, as the district court so determined, that any "financial instability" was created, exploited and exacerbated by Sampson. The long-standing viability of the Limited Partnerships and their ability to obtain all required operating capital from the investors (and thereby fund any operating deficits) militates strongly against Sampson's assertion that he is not legally responsible for injuries to the Richtron Companies.

In addition, and perhaps most importantly, however "financially instable," the Limited Partnerships may have been as of May, 1980, Sampson and his two limited partner clients agreed that the value of the Richtron Companies' capital stock at that time was at least \$700,000. (R. 2049, 2077-78, 2144, 2270). Because the primary value of that stock was based upon the Rictron Companies' interest in the Limited Partnerships, it is a reasonable inference that the going concern value of the Limited Partnerships was substantial. As the district court noted:

As floundering as the partnerships were, Sampson saw value there and spent what now totals six years in achieving what he now has, whatever it may be, leaving Richins and his companies with no tangible assets or values.

(R. 2275)

Finally, it is crucial to understand that each of the findings and conclusions set forth by Sampson on page 41 of his brief relate only to Sampson's liability for injuries and damages inflicted on Richtron Financial -- an entity to whom the district court granted only nominal damages in the amount of \$100.00. The district court's articulated concerns regarding the limited nature of legal injury to Richtron Financial is wholly irrelevant to evaluating the extensive extent to which the other Richtron Companies, Richtron, Inc. and Richtron General, were injured and damaged.

Accordingly, the record establishes that but for Sampson's seizure of the Limited Partnerships, the Richtron Companies would have obtained the various economic benefits embodied by the Limited Partnership agreements. The district court's conclusion to that effect should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT VI

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDINGS REGARDING
WAIVER AND ESTOPPEL ARE UNASSAILABLE

In asserting that the district court improperly

concluded that the Richins Parties did not waive or are estopped from complaining about Sampson's conduct, Sampson has failed to marshall all evidence relevant to that finding and to establish that even in the face of such evidence, the district court erred in reaching the conclusions that it did. Therefore, appellate review of that contention cannot be undertaken.

ARGUMENT VII

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY AWARDED TO THE
RICHINS PARTIES DAMAGES OF MORE THAN \$285,000.00

Sampson asserts in this appeal that the district court erred in awarding \$250,000.00 in consequential damages to Richtron, Inc. and Richtron General, \$31,074.50 in special damages in favor of Richtron Financial, and \$4,222.50 in special damages in favor of Richtron, Inc. As demonstrated below, (i) Sampson's inclusion of only a fraction of the trial transcript precludes him from challenging the damage awards and, (ii) to the extent the court elects to consider his claimed assignment of error, the district court's findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment on that issue are unassailable.

A. The Absence Of The Complete Trial Record Is Fatal To Sampson's Challenge To The District Court's Award Of Damages.

In asking the court to reverse the district court's

damage award, Sampson asserts generally that the award was "...without any evidentiary basis." (Brief, p. 52).¹¹ However, the "evidentiary basis" on which his appeal of damages is based is hopelessly incomplete. Numerous courts have held that an appellant's failure to produce the transcript of all evidence bearing on the issue of damages precludes it from obtaining appellate review. Herron v. Rozelle, 480 F.2d 282, 288 (10th Cir. 1973) ("Appellant has failed to bring up a transcript of all evidence bearing on the issue of damages to him. We decline review since we cannot make a meaningful evaluation of the claim of error."); Grimard v. Carlston, 567 F.2d 1171, 1173 (1st Cir. 1978) (Where the court lacked a record of the lower court's denial of a motion for preliminary injunction, the sufficiency of those proceedings would not be reviewed because there was no way of saying in the absence of that record whether the court abused its discretion.)

For that reason alone, the court should decline to review Sampson's challenge to the district court's award of damages and affirm its judgment.

¹¹ He further asserts in his brief that "as to the issue of damages... there is neither evidentiary support nor sufficient findings to support the award." (Brief, p. 5). For the reasons set forth in Argument I above, further appellate review of the damages issue is impossibly speculative.

B. The District Court's Award Of Consequential Damages To Richtron Inc. And Richtron General In The Amount Of \$250,000.00 Is Consistent With Applicable Law And Abundantly Supported By The Existing Record On Appeal.

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